23

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

FILED

SID.I WHITE

OCT 14 1994

CASE NO. 84,158

CLERK, SURREME COURT
By
Chief Deputy Clerk

JERSEY PALM - GROSS, INC.,

Petitioner,

v.

HENRY PAPER AND ANTHONY V. PUGLIESE, III,

Respondents.

PETITIONER'S INITIAL BRIEF ON THE MERITS

On Discretionary Review from the District Court of Appeal of Florida, Fourth District

> Daniel S. Pearson Lucinda A. Hofmann HOLLAND & KNIGHT 701 Brickell Avenue P. O. Box 015441 Miami, Florida 33101 (305) 374-8500

Counsel for the Petitioner

 $\gamma^{
u}$

INTRODUCTION

In this case the trial court excused the borrowers of \$200,000 from their obligation to repay the loan when they discovered a theory upon which they could contend that the loan was usurious. Two members of the Fourth District Court of Appeal found this result acceptable despite circumstances that moved even the trial court to conclude that the lender -- now the petitioner -- had not acted with corrupt intent and despite the existence of a usury savings clause in the loan documents that disavowed the lender's intent to charge a usurious rate and disclaimed his entitlement to receive usurious interest.¹

Our petition asks this Court to decide for the first time what effect is to be given to the usury savings clause, a clause that parties often include in loan documents to avoid the harsh penalties prescribed by Florida statutory law, when, after default, an unintended usurious rate is found to exist.

Thus far, two district courts of appeal have addressed the effect of the usury savings clause. The Fifth District in Forest Creek,² dismissing a usury complaint where the mortgage note contained a savings clause, held that the clause is an absolute defense to a claim of usury. In contrast, the majority of the panel in the present case held that a usury savings clause is no more than a possible defense, that is, that it "may be determinative" on the issue of intent and then only "[w]here the actual interest charged is close to the legal rate, or where the transaction is not clearly usurious at the outset but only becomes usurious upon the happening of a future

¹The lender was Jersey - Palm Gross, Inc., a corporation formed by Walter Gross to make the loan. We will, however, refer to the lender as if Gross had made the loan personally.

²Forest Creek Dev. Co. v. Liberty Sav. & Loan Ass'n, 531 So. 2d 356 (Fla. 5th DCA 1988), rev. denied, 541 So. 2d 1172 (Fla. 1989).

contingency." <u>Jersey Palm-Gross, Inc. v. Paper</u>, 639 So. 2d 664, 671 (Fla. 4th DCA 1994).³ It is the conflict between these two outcomes that the Fourth District certified to this Court.

The conflict of course requires resolution: lenders and their attorneys or other advisors must be able to conduct loan transactions with confidence in the seeming protection of the usury savings clause or, if it is deemed not to afford adequate protection, with knowledge of its specific limitations. The conflict, however, need not be resolved by choosing one or the other of the points of view expressed by the Fifth District or by the majority below; some other standard such as that urged by Judge Farmer in his dissent in this case may be the proper resolution. But the fashioning of *some* consistent rule capable of predictable use by lenders and predictable application by trial courts is essential.

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

The respondents, Henry Paper and Anthony V. Pugliese, are partners of a general partnership, Jersey Palm Associates ("JPA"), formed to buy and develop commercial property in Palm Beach County (T. 37-38, 55). Paper is an attorney licensed to practice law in New Jersey (T. 125) and the managing general partner of JPA (T. 55). Pugliese is a real estate developer (T. 41).

JPA owned three lots which it planned to develop for commercial use (T. 20, 100, 144). This property, valued by an October 1989 appraisal at \$1.7 million dollars (T. 142, 144-45; R. 153-57), was encumbered by a \$1.1 million dollar purchase money mortgage (T. 99, 119-20, 137). To develop the property, JPA sought a development loan of \$2.1 million (T. 118) and

³We have included in an appendix to this brief a copy of the district court's decision, <u>Jersey Palm-Gross, Inc. v. Paper</u>, 639 So. 2d 664 (Fla. 4th DCA 1994).

obtained a loan commitment from Capital Bank (T. 96, 118). Part of the loan from Capital Bank was to be used to pay off the existing mortgage and the rest was to be used to construct an office building (T. 96). Short the \$200,000 cash needed to pay property taxes, the brokerage commission, recording costs, and other closing expenses (T. 96), JPA, through Paper, contacted Walter Gross, a New York real estate developer (T. 92-93).

During the negotiations between Paper and Gross, Paper discussed the financial condition of JPA, its assets and liabilities (T. 97-100). Paper suggested that Gross become a partner of JPA and invest \$200,000 in the partnership thereby providing the needed cash (T. 94, 104, 122). Although Gross rejected that proposal, Paper persuaded him to lend the partnership \$200,000 on the condition that several of the partners of JPA personally guarantee the loan (T. 23, 69, 70). Gross knew that the \$200,000 was to be used to close the \$2.1 million loan from Capital Bank (R. 22, 79-80, 96, 101).

On March 9, 1990, Gross formed Jersey Palm - Gross, Inc. ("Gross") for the purpose of making the \$200,000 loan (T. 24). A few days before the closing, Paper received loan documents from Gross' attorneys (T. 105). These documents included a promissory note for \$200,000 at 15% interest for eighteen months and a purchase agreement calling for the transfer of a 15% share of JPA to Jersey Palm - Gross, Inc. (T. 106-07). Since the loan commitment with Capital Bank was soon to expire (T. 112), Paper did not believe he had time to seek the needed cash elsewhere (T. 110, 111). But Paper himself did not consider that the 15% interest in the JPA partnership given to Gross would be calculated as part of the interest on the loan (T. 125, 134)

The promissory note contained a usury savings clause, which reads:

Nothing herein contained, nor in any instrument or transaction related hereto, shall be construed or so operate as to require the Maker, or any person liable for the payment of the loan made pursuant to this Note, to pay interest in an amount or at a rate greater than the highest rate permissible under applicable law. Should any interest or other charges paid by the Maker, or any parties liable for the payment of the loan made pursuant to this Note, result in the computation or earning of interest in excess of the highest rate permissible under applicable law, then any and all such excess shall be and the same is hereby waived by the holder hereof, and all such excess shall be automatically credited against and in reduction of the principal balance, and any portion of said excess which exceeds the principal balance shall be paid by the holder hereof to the Maker and any parties liable for the payment of the loan made pursuant to this Note, it being the intent of the parties hereto that under no circumstances shall the Maker, or any parties liable for the payment of the loan hereunder, be required to pay interest in excess of the highest rate permissible under applicable law. (R. 119-20).

At trial Gross said that he was not familiar with the usury laws in Florida (T. 83), that he relied on his counsel, that he did not intend to charge a greater rate of interest than that allowed by law (T. 83, 85), and that the usury savings clause in the promissory note meant that "there was no intent to be usurious" (T. 84).

The loan of \$200,000 at 15% interest between Gross and JPA closed on March 27, 1990 (T. 23; R. 118-20). At the closing, which Gross did not attend (T. 75-76), Gross received a 15% share of JPA (R. 132-36). Two days later on March 29, 1990, the loan of \$2,123,000 to JPA from Capital Bank closed (T. 137; R. 150). While Paper said that he discussed with Gross what the values of JPA would be "if we were successful" (T. 97), there was never any guarantee that JPA would be successful. Indeed, as of March 29, 1990, just two days after the closing on the Gross loan, JPA had mortgaged all the equity in its \$1.7 million property to secure the Capital Bank loan (R. 150). Thus, two days after he obtained a 15% share in JPA, Gross' share was worth no more than an expectancy and hope of future success. As it turned out, JPA was not successful and, by the time of trial, was insolvent (T. 62, 155).

During the loan period of eighteen months, JPA made interest payments totalling \$45,250 (T. 14, 86-87). However, JPA did not repay the loan when it came due on October 1, 1991 and the guaranters did not make good on their unconditional guarantees (T. 18, R. 118, 122-30).

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On January 30, 1992, Gross brought an action against the partners of JPA, including the guarantors (R. 1-23). Gross was able to serve only Paper and Pugliese, the respondents (R. 24-27). Almost a year later, in December of 1992, Pugliese sought and was given leave to add an affirmative defense of usury (R. 79-80, 82), claiming that, because Gross had received a 15% share of JPA at the time of making the loan, the loan was usurious (R. 79-80). The case went to trial in February of 1993 (T. 1).

The trial court found that the value of JPA on the day of the loan closing was \$600,000, the difference between the appraised value of JPA's land (\$1,700,000) and the existing purchase money mortgage encumbering it (\$1,100,000) (R. 248). According to the trial court, it followed that since Gross was given 15% of JPA he had effectively received interest of \$90,000, which, when added to the interest of 15% provided in the promissory note, made the effective interest rate on the \$200,000 loan 45% (R. 248, 250-51). Despite the usury savings clause contained in the promissory note, Gross' testimony as to his intent, and the fact that he knew that the purpose of the \$200,000 loan was to facilitate JPA's imminent mortgaging of all of its property to Capital Bank, the trial court found that Gross "knowingly and willingly charged and accepted this [usurious] consideration" (R. 251) (emphasis added). Consequently, the trial court deemed the \$200,000 note and guarantee unenforceable and adjudged that Gross forfeit the entire principal pursuant to section 687.071(7) of the Florida Statutes (R. 251). Although the

promissory note included a very extensive usury savings clause, the trial court concluded that "there's no way . . . that you can disclaim usury," (T. 209), and refused to give the savings clause effect (R. 251).

Gross appealed to the Fourth District Court of Appeal asserting that the trial court did not find the requisite "corrupt" intent but instead concluded that mere knowledge and acceptance were sufficient to deem the loan and guarantee unenforceable. He also asserted that the trial court relied on a mathematical computation of the value of the partnership on the day of the loan closing without taking the entirety of the intended transaction into account, and that on the issue of intent it refused to consider the usury savings clause found in the parties' agreement.

In a divided opinion, the majority found: "[T]he insertion of a usury savings clause in a single document does not save this lender under these circumstances from the usury penalties, nor preclude the trial court's finding of usurious intent." 639 So. 2d at 671. Judge Farmer, dissenting, expressed the view that these were the very kind of circumstances where a usury savings clause would preclude a finding of usurious intent. Neither the majority nor Judge Farmer shared the Fifth District's view that "the insertion of a usury savings clause in one of several documents to a loan transaction will shield the lender from the reach of Florida's usury laws as a matter of law" in every case. Id. The Fourth District certified conflict with Forest Creek Dev. Co. v. Liberty Sav. & Loan Ass'n, 531 So. 2d 356 (Fla. 5th DCA 1988), rev. denied, 541 So. 2d 1172 (Fla. 1989). Because the conflict is clear and its resolution essential, we urge the Court to accept jurisdiction.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

Under Florida law a defendant seeking to avoid repayment of a loan under a usury defense must prove clearly and satisfactorily that the lender acted "wilfully" -- not simply willingly -- to take more than the legal rate of interest. Florida courts have interpreted this to mean that the lender must be found to have acted with a "corrupt intent" to take more than the law allows. The trial court in this case found only that the lender knew what he was receiving -- 15% on the loan and a 15% share of the partnership -- and accepted this "consideration." The trial court not only rejected as irrelevant Gross' testimony that he did not intend to charge a usurious rate for the loan, but held for naught the usury savings clause included in the parties' agreement.

The trial court relied instead on a simplistic computation: on the day of the closing of the loan from Gross, JPA's sole asset was worth \$600,000 (the value of the land less the outstanding mortgage), and therefore Gross' 15% interest in JPA was worth \$90,000. Even though the evidence showed without dispute that these ephemeral values were intended to evaporate in a mere 48 hours, the trial court apparently believed it was bound to treat them as real. It thus ignored that two days later, as part of the planned transaction, JPA mortgaged its entire sole asset to secure over \$2,000,000 in debt and Gross' 15% share of JPA became at that moment mere speculation. The flaw in the trial court's logic was that it equated Gross' intent to receive a 15% share in a speculative undertaking with the intent to receive \$90,000, which he never was to receive. Gross intended to and did receive a 15% share in JPA but knew that the purpose of his loan to JPA was to enable JPA to incur a debt twice the amount of its then existing one. This evidence, along with Gross' testimony that he did not intend to lend money

at a usurious rate and the inclusion of a usury savings clause in the promissory note, precluded any showing -- much less a clear and satisfactory one -- of the requisite corrupt intent to take more than the law allows.

Under Forest Creek Dev. Co. v. Liberty Sav. & Loan Ass'n, the very existence of the usury savings clause would have been enough to preclude a showing of the requisite corrupt intent to charge a usurious rate. In the present case, the trial court gave no effect to the usury savings clause in the promissory note because under its understanding of the law, "there is no way... that you can disclaim usury." While both Forest Creek and the present case hold that a lender surely can disclaim usury, the effect courts must give to the disclaimers is what is at issue here. If -- as the Fourth District believes -- Forest Creek wrongly elevates the usury savings clause to an absolute defense, the Fourth District majority, which relegates the clause to a mere factor in the calculus used to determine usury and allows the clause to be determinative only in cases where the interest is close to the legal rate or where the loan becomes usurious on the happening of a contingency, wrongly nullifies the defense.

In our view, a more realistic and useful standard is suggested by Judge Farmer in his dissent. Under his proposed standard, a savings clause would create a presumption that usury was not intended and the burden would be upon the borrower to prove true corrupt, that is criminal, intent to take more than the lawful rate. This burden to overcome the presumption would be satisfied by showing that the savings clause in effect was a ruse. But where, as here, the loan was not usurious on its face; where the loan was between experienced businessmen for the purpose of facilitating a speculative development endeavor; where the loan, instead of becoming excessive upon a contingency became, as the parties contemplated, nonexcessive

almost immediately; and where there was, in the trial court's own words, not the slightest reason to believe that the lender acted malevolently or with an evil intent to evade the law, a trial court should not be free to disregard the savings clause, and instead should be required to give it full effect. Florida's public policy against usury is simply not so strong that trial courts should be permitted to hold usury savings clauses for naught in the absence of compelling proof that the clause was inserted simply to disguise an intended usurious transaction.

ARGUMENT

I.

THE LAW OF USURY ACCORDING TO THE TRIAL COURT: A USURY SAVINGS CLAUSE MEANS NOTHING

To prevail on a claim of usury, a defendant must prove: (1) a loan, either express or implied; (2) an understanding between the lender and the borrower that the money must be repaid; (3) that for the loan a greater rate of interest than is allowed by law will be paid or agreed to be paid; and, most importantly for our purposes here, (4) a corrupt intent to take more than the legal rate of interest for the use of the money loaned. Dixon v. Sharp, 276 So. 2d 817, 819 (Fla. 1973); Clark v. Grey, 101 Fla. 1058, 132 So. 832, 834 (1931). At issue in this case was whether Paper and Pugliese proved clearly and satisfactorily that Gross had the requisite "corrupt intent" where the trial court failed to consider the surrounding circumstances, including the usury savings clause, that showed that Gross did not act with corrupt intent.

Under section 687.071(2) of the Florida Statutes, the criminal usury statute applicable in this case, a lender must "willfully and knowingly" charge or receive more than the interest rate allowed. § 687.071(2), Fla. Stat. (1991). Thus, the usury statute "imposes a penalty only on those lenders who 'willfully' violate it." Rebman v. Flagship First Nat'l Bank, 472 So. 2d

1360, 1364 (Fla. 2d DCA 1985). "A thing is willfully done when it proceeds from a conscious motion of the will, intending the result which actually comes to pass." Chandler v. Kendrick, 108 Fla. 450, 146 So. 551, 552 (1933). "To work a forfeiture under the statute the principal must knowingly and willfully charge or accept more than the amount of interest prohibited." Dixon, 276 So. 2d at 820 (emphasis added). While the word "willful" is often used to distinguish "intentional" from "accidental," when "willful" is used, as here, "in a statute affixing a punishment to acts done willfully, it may be restricted to such acts as are done with an unlawful intent." Id. (emphasis added). Here, because the usury statute affixes a punishment on those who violate it, Paper and Pugliese had to prove by clear and satisfactory evidence that Gross had "a purpose in his mind to get more than legal interest for the use of his money." Chandler v. Kendrick, 146 So. at 552.

It is undisputed that the \$200,000 loan to JPA was not usurious on its face -- the 15% interest on the loan was well below the 18% maximum allowed (R.9, 118).⁵ According to the borrowers -- and later the trial court and panel majority -- the loan became usurious because at the closing on March 27, 1990 Gross received a 15% share of JPA (T. 176, R. 250, 639 So. 2d at 668). Since the promissory note itself was not usurious, the finding of excessive interest rested entirely on a mathematical computation of the value of 15% of JPA as of March 27, 1990 (R. 248). But that computation failed to take into account that Gross and the borrowers knew

⁴There is little doubt that the remedies provided by Florida's usury statutes are penal in nature. General Capital Corp. v. Tel Serv. Co., 212 So. 2d 369, 384 (Fla. 2d DCA 1968), aff'd in part, 227 So. 2d 667 (Fla. 1969).

⁵For loans up to \$500,000, an interest rate in excess of 18% per annum simple interest is declared usurious. § 687.03(1), Fla. Stat. (1991).

that two days after the closing JPA would incur an indebtedness of \$2,123,000, rendering Gross' 15% of JPA without real value, at least until and unless the development of the project became successful, an expectancy that never came to pass (T. 62, 155).

There has never been any dispute about whether Gross knew the relative value of the lots held by JPA, that the stated interest on the loan was 15%, or that he was to receive a 15% share in JPA at the loan closing (T. 71, 13, 75). But likewise, there was never any showing that Gross intended to receive \$90,000 in addition to the 15% interest on the note. Instead the trial court computed Gross' 15% share in JPA on the day of closing to be a paper figure of \$90,000, even though the parties contemplated that the value of JPA would change drastically as soon as the Capital Bank loan closed (T. 103). Thus, the value of the 15% share of JPA was highly speculative and no one was more aware of this than Gross, who had initially refused to rely on becoming a partner in JPA and who insisted that there be a loan and that it be personally guaranteed (T. 23, 69, 70). Had the trial court really considered all the circumstances surrounding the transaction including the evidence that showed that JPA was about to take on more than \$2,000,000 of debt, it could not have concluded that Gross intended to receive 45% interest on his loan. See Dixon v. Sharp, 276 So. 2d at 822 ("Corrupt intent should be determined from all of the circumstances surrounding the transaction rather than being determined by an inflexible rule which measures the mathematical result.").

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