27 od 7

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

FILED

CASE NO. 84,158

SID J. WHITE DEC 8 19941

JERSEY PALM-GROSS, INC.,

CLERK, SUPREME COURT
By
Chilef Deputy Clerk

Petitioner,

v.

HENRY PAPER AND ANTHONY V. PUGLIESE, III,

Respondents.

RESPONDENTS' ANSWER BRIEF ON THE MERITS

On Discretionary Review from the District Court of Appeal of Florida, Fourth District

Robert M. Weinberger
COHEN, CHERNAY, NORRIS, MORICI
WEINBERGER & HARRIS
712 U.S. Highway One
Fourth Floor
North Palm Beach, Florida 33408
(407) 844-3600

Attorney for Respondent Pugliese

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

ARGUMENT

I. THE "SAVINGS CLAUSE" APPEARING IN PETITIONER'S PROMISSORY NOTE WAS PROPERLY CONSIDERED BY BOTH THE TRIAL COURT AND THE FOURTH DISTRICT COURT OF APPEALS.

This case is presently before this Court to permit this Court's resolution of what appears to be a conflict between the Fourth and Fifth Circuit Courts of Appeal with respect to the proper application of a so called "savings clause" appearing in a Promissory Note. Such clauses, as does the clause to be considered by this Court, typically state that it is not the intent of the lender to make a usurious loan.

The Fourth District Court of Appeals, after a thoughtful analysis of the purpose of usury statutes, the reasonable application of savings clauses, and how such clauses have been applied by sister states, declined to follow the Fifth District's decision, Forest Creek Development Company v. Liberty Savings and Loan Association, 531 So.2d 356 (Fla. 5th DCA 1988), rev. denied, 541 So.2d 1172 (Fla. 1989), noting that the Fifth District neither discussed the facts nor cited any authority supporting its holding. See JERSEY PALM-GROSS, INC. supra at 669.

Reviewing decisions of sister states, the Fourth District Court of Appeals noted that of the 39 states having usury laws, only 3 states (besides Florida) have considered the effect of a usury savings clause on transactions which otherwise would be usurious. <u>JERSEY PALM-GROSS, INC.</u>, supra at 670. Of the states

which have considered the issue, the Court noted that two of them,
North Carolina and Connecticut have determined that such clauses
are contrary to public policy and unenforceable.

Between the effect of usury savings clauses as afforded by Florida's Fifth Appellate District - that is that they avoid usury as a matter of law - and the position of North Carolina and Connecticut that they are unenforceable as a matter of law, the Fourth District found that the approach taken by Texas made more sense from both a policy and legal point of view. Reviewing Texas decisions, the Fourth District stated:

Texas Courts since 1937 have repeatedly acknowledged the validity of the usury savings clauses, but still hold that a usury savings clause will not necessarily relieve the lender from the consequences of the usuary laws when the transaction is clearly usurious at the outset. Nevels v. Harris, 129 Tex. 190, 102 SW 2d 1046 (1937) Woodcrest Assocs., Ltd. v. Commonwealth Mortg. Corp., 775 SW 2d 437 (Tex. Ct. App. 1989). In Nevels, the Texas Supreme Court, in acknowledging the validity of usury savings clauses, gave the following strongly worded caveat:

Of course we do not mean to hold that a person exact from a borrower a contract that is usurious under its terms, and then relieve himself of the pains and penalties visited by law upon such an act by merely writing into the contract a disclaimer of any intention to do that which under his contract he has plainly done. [citation omitted] JERSEY PALM-GROSS, INC. supra at 670.

After analyzing Texas decisions, the Fourth District set forth its own formulation at page 671 as follows:

A usury savings clause is one factor to which the finder of facts should look in determining whether all of the circumstances surrounding the transaction support a finding of intent on the part of the lender to take more than the legal rate of interest for the use of money loaned. The Fourth District of Appeals went on to note that in circumstances where the rate of interest is determined by difficult or uncertain calculation or becomes usurious upon the happening of a future contingency, a clause disavowing an intent to charge usury may be persuasive in avoiding the penalties of usury. However, the Fourth District noted that there were no such factors present in the loan made by Petitioner.

While the Fourth District's decision may appear contradictory to the Fifth District's decision in Forest Creek, supra, the Fourth District was not the first Florida appellate court to consider the effect of savings clauses and to conclude that the presence of a savings clause does not, as a matter of law, insulate a loan from the consequences of usury. In Rebman v. Flagship First National Bank, 472 So.2d 1360 (Fla. 2d DCA 1985) the Second District considered a claim of usury against which the lender defended with the fact that a savings clause appeared in the Promissory Note. The Second District agreed with the lender that the subject loan was not a usurious loan. However, in reaching its conclusion, the Second Circuit did not rely solely upon the savings clause (referred to as a disclaimer clause by the Second District), but instead, the Second District considered all of the facts surrounding the transaction, as the test fashioned by the Fourth District suggests should be done. In ruling on the claim of usury, the Second District stated: "The circumstances surrounding the entire transaction, together with the stated interest rate and the disclaimer clause found on the face of each note, conclusively show

the bank did not wilfully or knowingly charge or accept excessive interest." (Rebman, supra, at 1364). (emphasis added)

The Second District again considered savings clauses in Plantation Village Ltd. v. Aycock, 617 So.2d 729 (Fla. 2d DCA 1993). In this case the Second District reversed a Summary Judgment entered in favor of a lender as the Court determined that the borrower had raised facts in opposition to the motion which may demonstrate an intent on the part of the borrower to have made a usurious loan. The Court noted that a savings clause was contained within the loan documents, but nonetheless determined that facts pertaining to the actual circumstances surrounding the loan must be considered, and since such facts were in dispute, the summary judgment was improper. Surely had the usury savings clause been sufficient in and of itself to establish a lack of intent as a matter of law, the summary judgment would have been proper.

Accordingly, though the Second District did not provide a method for application of a savings clause, it clearly may be implied from its decisions that the Second District Court of Appeals also believes that such clauses are not in and of themselves controlling evidence of intent, but are rather but one piece of evidence which must be considered.

It might also be noted that <u>Plantation Village Ltd. v. Aycock</u>, supra, questioned whether a savings clause can ever apply to avoid criminal usury since the savings provisions which the legislature has set forth in Section 687.04(2), Fla. Statutes, of which provisions a lender may avail itself prior to initiating suit on a

defaulted loan, expressly applies only to civil usury, no mention being made of its application to loans with an interest rate constituting criminal usury.

The Fourth District, having concluded that savings clauses are to be considered in determining a lenders intent, but are not in and of themselves conclusive in the determination of that intent, then proceeded to review the facts before the Trial Court to determine whether in the totality of the circumstances surrounding Petitioner's loan the savings clause appearing in its Promissory Note avoided the otherwise usurious transaction.

II. THE TRIAL COURT'S FINDINGS WITH RESPECT TO THE INTENT OF PETITIONER TO MAKE A USURIOUS LOAN ARE SUPPORTED BY SUBSTANTIAL COMPETENT EVIDENCE IN THE RECORD.

The Fourth District, having ruled that a savings clause does not by itself avoid usury, reviewed the record made before the Trial Court to determine whether the Trial Court's finding that petitioner "possessed the requisite intent to render the \$200,000.00 transaction usurious." (Conclusion of law 6 of the Trial Court's Judgment, (R.51).

The Fourth District concluded that "the Trial Court's Order entered after a non-jury trial is supported by substantial competent evidence". <u>JERSEY PALM-GROSS, INC.</u>, supra at 666. The Court then proceeded to recite the facts which, when considered in conjunction with the savings clause were sufficient to establish Petitioner's knowledge and intent as violative of statute. These facts as summarized and set forth by the Fourth District were as follows:

Here the amount charged for the loan exceeded the lawful rate of interest by 27%. usurious amount was exacted at the outset, and did not depend on the occurrence of a future contingency, which might or might not have made the loan usurious. The borrowers were in desperate need of money. The lender had full knowledge of the borrower's financial situation and took full advantage of the situation by overreaching. The usurious charge did not occur by happenstance, but lender's purposeful through the actions. JERSEY PALM-GROSS, INC. supra at 671.

It is difficult for a Respondent to argue against much of what Petitioner set forth in its argument pertaining to intent. The cases which Petitioner cites in support of its formulation of intent include Rebman v. Flagship First National Bank, 472 So.2d 1360 (Fla. 2nd DCA 1985); Chandler v. Kendrick, 108 Fla. 450, 146 So. 551 (1933) and Dixon v. Sharp, 276 So.2d 817 (Fla. 1973). Each of these cases teach that if a lender knew the terms of its loan, intended the terms of its loan to be implemented, and if in fact the terms of the loan as known to the lender resulted in a rate of interest which exceeded the limitations imposed by state statute (whether the lender knew of the statutory limitation or not) such knowledge was sufficient to constitute a violation of usury laws.

Petitioner's argument appears to suggest that in order to find criminal usury, the Trial Court was required to find some facts beyond those merely establishing that Petitioner knew the conditions on which it was making the loan, intended those conditions to be implemented, and knew the value of the consideration which it was to receive for the loan. Petitioner refers to what is required in order to establish criminal usury as

"corrupt intent" taking this phrase from this Court's decision in Dickson v. Sharp, 276 So.2d 817 (Fla. 1973). Petitioner, however, fails to state what in addition to a lender's knowledge of what it is to receive its intent to receive it, and the value of what is received exceeding usuary limitations must be shown to establish this "corrupt intent." What Petitioner apparently ignores is that this phrase was used by this Court, and other Courts considering the issue, to describe a state of mind described by Section 687.071 (2), that is acting "wilfully and knowingly." Not only does Section 687.071(2) require a showing only of the wilfulness and knowledge of the lender, but cases construing this section have equated this state of mind to the "corrupt intent" required to constitute criminal usury.

Typical of discussion of the intent necessary to constitute that which renders a loan usurious is found in Ross v. Whitman, 181 So.2d 701 (Fla. App. 3d DCA 1966) in which the Court stated:

The lender's professed ignorance of the laws of usury did not render lawful his knowing and intentional acceptance of usurious interest. Shorr v. Skafte.

The wilful violation mentioned in the statute, and corrupt intent referred to in the decisions, consists of knowingly and intentionally charging or accepting interest at a higher rate that the law allows. Ross, supra at 703. More recently, the First District in Rollins v. Odom, 519 So.2d 652 (Fla. App. 1st DCA 1988) stated:

Rather it is the fact that the lender consciously intends and does in fact make charges which result in usury that establishes

the requisite element of corrupt intent. [citation omitted] '[w]hen the lender has intentionally and purposely done that which amounts to or results in a contract for the exaction of usurious interest, an argument by the lender that it was not shown the lender intended to violate the usury statute is without merit.' Rollins, supra at 658. (emphasis added)

From the evidence presented at trial and from the Fourth District's review of that evidence, it is clear that Petitioner knew that it was to receive 15% interest on the principal it was lending, knew and intended that it was to receive a 15% equity interest in the partnership to which it was making the loan, which equity was being provided to lender solely in consideration for the loan, that Petitioner knew the equity had a present value at the time of the loan was made of \$90,000.00, and that Petitioner therefore knew that it was to receive consideration in excess of 25% of the principal it was lending (on an annualized basis.)

Review of the transcript of proceedings before the Trial Court reveals that Petitioner never denied that it knew the value of the equity which was conveyed to it at the time of the loan nor professed its ignorance of such value. Moreover, Petitioner never assigned as error or argued to the Fourth District Court of Appeals that the Trial Court erred in determining that the value of the equity received by Petitioner was \$90,000.00 or that Petitioner knew the value of the equity which it was to receive and intended to receive. Indeed the Court of Appeal even commented that Petitioner did not raise a challange to these findings of the Trial Court. JERSEY PALM-GROSS, INC., supra, at 667. Yet Petitioner now

Court. <u>JERSEY PALM-GROSS</u>, <u>INC</u>., <u>supra</u>, at 667. Yet Petitioner now argues before this Court, for the first time, that "there was never any showing that GROSS intended to receive \$90,000.00 in addition to the \$15,000.00 interest on the note. ... the value of the 15% share of JPA was highly speculative and no one was more aware of this than GROSS ..." See Petitioner's Initial Brief at page 11.

It is submitted that even had Petitioner raised this argument before the Court of Appeals it would have been rejected as the evidence before the Trial Court is clear and unrebutted that Petitioner was fully aware of the value of the property owned by the partnership, the debts of the partnership, the resulting equity owned by the partnership, and its share of that equity. There is no evidence before the Trial Court that the equity owned by the partnership was in any way contingent upon any future event occurring. Accordingly, Petitioner's claims of speculation as to the value of the equity should be rejected and the Trial Court's determination that Petitioner knew the value of the equity, that this value was \$90,000.00, that Petitioner intended to receive equity of this value, and that this value is properly included as interest should be upheld. See Continental Mortgage Investors v. Sailboat Key, Inc., 354 So. 2d 67 at 73 (Fla. 3d DCA 1978), quashed on other grounds 395 So.2d 507. (Fla. 1981)

III. READ CLOSELY, NO CONFLICT EXISTS BETWEEN THE FOURTH DISTRICT'S DECISION IN <u>JERSEY PALM-GROSS</u>, INC. AND THE FIFTH DISTRICT'S DECISION IN <u>FOREST CREEK</u>.

While the Fourth District Court of Appeal certified conflict to this Court, and this Court has accepted jurisdiction, it is submitted that a close reading of <u>Forest Creek</u> reveals that a conflict may not in fact exist.

Forest Creek reviewed the action of a trial court granting a Motion to Dismiss a Complaint alleging a loan as uncollectible because of usury. A savings clause appeared within the loan document which was attached to the Complaint, and was therefore to be considered in determining whether the Complaint with attachments stated a cause of action.

The <u>Forest Creek</u> decision contains no discussion with respect to the allegations set forth in the Compliant. It may, therefore, be reasonably assumed that the Compliant merely alleged that the interest charged was in excess of statutory limits and therefore constituted usury.

As the Fourth District's decision makes clear, the effect of the savings clause is only determinable in the context of all facts relating to the making of the loan. That is, without facts to demonstrate the lender's actual knowledge and intent, and what devices the lender may have used to implement its intent, the savings clause may or may not be effective. If all that was alleged in the Forest Creek Complaint was a simple statement that the amount of interest charged exceeded statutory limits - none of the other surrounding facts being alleged - then the trial court may well have acted property in dismissing the Complaint for in circumstances in which there is no showing other than that the amount of interest exceeds of usurious limits (and Forest Creek does not even tell us by how much the limits were exceeded) under

the rule for applying savings clauses as set forth by the Fourth District, the savings clauses may well have been sufficient to determine that no cause of action was stated.

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